PASSAIC COUNTY IMPROVEMENT AUTHORITY

BY-LAWS

Adopted January 13, 2021

ARTICLE 1

SEAL

1. The official seal of the Passaic County Improvement Authority (hereinafter referred to as "Authority") shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the name of the Authority.

ARTICLE II

PURPOSE

1. These By-Laws are adopted pursuant to N.J.S.A. 40:37A-55 and 40:37A-56 as rules and regulations to govern the affairs and conduct of the Authority and the powers and duties of its members, officers, and employees.

ARTICLE III

OFFICE

- 1. The principle office of the Authority shall be at such place as the Authority may from time to time designate.
- 2. The Authority may have offices at such other places as it may from time to time deem necessary and appropriate.

ARTICLE IV

COMMISSIONERS

- 1. There shall be appointed five (5) members by the Passaic County Board of County Commissioners ("County Commissioners"). The term of the members shall be established by the County Commissioners as provided pursuant to N.J.S.A 40:37A-48.
 - 2. Vacancies in any members' seat shall be filled by the County Commissioners.

ARTICLE V

OFFICERS

1. The officers of the Authority shall be a Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Secretary/Treasurer, and Deputy Secretary chosen from the members of the Board. They shall be elected by the Authority from its members at the annual organizational meeting each year,

which shall be held at the first regularly scheduled meeting in February of each year. The said officers shall hold office until the next succeeding annual organizational meeting or until their successors have been elected and qualify.

- 2. Vacancies in any office shall be filled by special election held at the next regular meeting of the Authority following the occurrence of such vacancy, which election shall be remainder of the unexpired term only.
- 3. In the absence of any officer, the Authority may, by a majority vote of the members present, delegate the powers and duties of such officer to any other officer or member during the period of such absence.
- 4. In the event of the absence of both the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman from any meeting, the Authority may, by a majority vote of those present, delegate the parliamentary powers of such officer to any other officer or member present for the purposes of conducting Authority business at such meeting.

ARTICLE VI

CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN

- 1. The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Authority and shall have general supervision, direction and control of the affairs of the Authority and shall sign all drafts, checks and contracts. The Chairman shall approve the agenda for such meeting and have other functions, powers and duties as may be delegated to him or her by these By-Laws or by Resolution or Authority.
- 2. The Vice-Chairman shall, in the absence or incapacity of the Chairman, assume and perform all duties and powers of the Chairman.
- 3. The presiding officer at any meeting of the Authority, including the Chairman, or Vice-Chairman, shall have the right to vote.
- 4. Whenever the Chairman attends a meeting after it has been called to order by the Vice-Chairman, the Chairman shall immediately assume the chair and continue with the conduct of business under consideration.
- 5. The Vice-Chairman will have the power to execute any and all documents and checks the same as the Secretary/Treasurer.

ARTICLE VII

SECRETARY/TREASURER and DEPUTY SECRETARY

1. The Secretary/Treasurer shall attest all documents, resolutions, agreements and obligations.

- 2. He or she may, subject to the direction of the Authority and in accordance with such requirements for counter-signature as the Authority may provide, sign, make and endorse in the name of the Authority, together with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, all checks, drafts, and orders for payment of money.
- 3. The Secretary/Treasurer shall supervise and direct the Executive Director in his or her duties as it relates to maintenance of the Authority's books and records.
- 4.. The Secretary/Treasurer shall have such other functions, powers and duties as may be delegated to him or her by these By-Laws or by resolution of the Authority.
- 5 In the absence of the Secretary/Treasurer, the Deputy Secretary is authorized to perform the duties and responsibilities of the Secretary/Treasurer.

ARTICLE VIII

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

- 1. The Executive Director shall devote his or her best efforts to the affairs of the Authority and perform such duties as Executive Director as directed to perform by the Commissioners of the Authority or, in case of emergent circumstances, at the directions of the Chairman of the Authority.
 - 2. The duties of the Executive Director shall attend all Authority meetings.
- 6. Under the direction of the Chairman, the Executive Director shall draft agendas for the Chairman's approval, market the Authority's services, oversee the Authority's projects and financings, ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, supervise Authority's employees, monitor private contractors and professionals of the Authority, and be responsible for the maintenance of the Authority's offices.
- 4. Under the direction and supervision of the Secretary, the Executive Director shall keep minutes and records of the Authority, provide notice of meetings to Authority members, arrange for proper and legal notice of hearings, and attend to correspondence of the authority.
 - 5. The Executive Director shall be the custodian of the seal of the Authority.
- 6. He or she may, subject to the direction of the Authority and in accordance with such requirements for counter-signature as the Authority may provide, sign, make and endorse in the name of the Authority, together with the Chairman and Secretary, all checks, drafts, and orders for payment of money.
- 7. The Executive Director shall, under direction of the Secretary, have care and custody of all funds of the Authority and shall deposit the same in the name of the Authority in such bank or banks as the Authority may designate.

- 8. He or she may, after approval by the Authority, pay all vouchers and approve such requisitions and purchase orders as may be authorized by the Authority.
- 9. He or she shall render a report of finances of the Authority at each regular meeting and at such other times as may be requested.
- 10. He or she shall keep accurate and correct books of accounts of all business of the Authority.
- 11. When required by the Authority, he or she shall give such security for the faithful discharge of his or her duties as the members may direct, including a surety bond, premiums for which shall be paid by the Authority.
- 12. The Executive Director shall forward a copy of all minutes of meetings held by the Authority members to the Board of County Commissioners, to the attention of the County Commissioner Director.

ARTICLE IX

ATTORNEY/AUDITOR

- 1. The Authority shall appoint an attorney and an auditor who shall be paid such compensation as the authority may from time to time provide. The attorney shall furnish the Authority all legal services outlined in the attorney's contract with the Authority and, additionally, such legal advice and counsel as shall be requested, and shall represent the Authority in all legal matters.
- 2. The auditor shall be a Certified Public Accountant and shall render such auditing or accounting services as may be required by the Authority and by law.

ARTICLE X

MEETINGS AND QUORUM

- 1. The annual organizational meeting of the authority for the election of officers and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the Authority shall be held on the first regularly scheduled meeting in February of each year.
- 2. The regular meetings of the Authority for the transaction of its business shall be held once a month, as needed, on days and at a time to be agreed upon at the organizational meeting or at a regular or special meeting upon notice to all members.
- 3. Special meetings may be called at the request of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman or by any two (2) members of the Authority and shall be held on the date and time specified in a notice given by the Secretary/Treasurer not less than two (2) days prior thereto by mail or by telephone.

- 4. All meetings shall be held at the principal office, via virtual meeting or such other place as the authority may determine.
- 5. A majority of the entire authorized members of the Authority shall constitute a quorum. Action may be taken by the Authority by vote of a majority of the authorized members.
- 6. Meetings of the Authority shall be conducted according to Robert's Rules of Order, except as the Authority may otherwise authorized by unanimous consent.
 - 6. Public notice of meetings will be governed by the Open Public Meetings Act.
 - 7. Should a meeting be held virtually, as permitted during a declared emergency or otherwise, the following procedures will be followed:
 - (a) the public may make public comment by audio, or by audio and video if the remote public meeting is held over both audio and video, during the meeting.
 - (b) In advance of the remote public meeting, the Authority shall allow public comments to be submitted by electronic mail and in written letter form by a at lease twenty-four hours before the meeting. Public comments submitted before the remote public meeting through electronic mail or by written letter shall be read aloud and addressed during the remote public meeting in a manner audible to all meeting participants and the public. A five minute time limit is imposed on the reading of each comment. Each comment shall be read from the beginning, until the time limit is reached.
 - (c) During the meeting, the Authority will open the meeting for public comment. This public comment will be permitted, as set forth by the instructions on the meeting notice and on the website of the Authority. During public comment:
 - (i) The local public body shall facilitate a dialogue with the commenter to the extent permitted by the electronic communications technology.
 - (ii) If a member of the public becomes disruptive during a remote public meeting, including during any period for public comment, the member of the Authority shall mute or continue muting, or direct appropriate staff to mute or continue muting, the disruptive member of the public and warn that continued disruption may result in their being prevented from speaking during the remote public meeting or removed from the remote public meeting. Disruptive conduct includes sustained inappropriate behaviors such as, but not necessarily limited to, shouting, interruption, and use of profanity.
 - (iii) A member of the public who continues to act in a disruptive manner after receiving an initial warning may be muted while other members of the public are allowed to proceed with their questions or comments. If time permits, the disruptive individual shall be allowed

to speak after all other members of the public have been given the opportunity to make comment. Should the person remain disruptive, the individual may be muted or kept on mute for the remainder of the remote public meeting, or removed from the remote public meeting.

ARTICLE XI

COMMITTEES

1. The Chairman from time to time may appoint such special committees as he or she may deem requisite and necessary, and on each Committee so appointed, he or she shall serve as ex-officio thereof.

ARTICLE XII

ORDER OF BUSINESS

- 1. Call to order
- 2. Pledge of Allegiance
- 3. Roll Call
- 4. Open Public Meetings Act Statement
- 5. Approval of Minutes
- 6. Public Portion
- 7. Official Action
- 8. Old Business/New Business
- 9. Adjournment

ARTICLE XIII

<u>AMENDMENT</u>

1. Proposed changes to these By-Laws, excluding the provisions of Article IV, may be introduced at any regular meeting by any member. If approved by the majority at the meeting, it will be carried over to the next regular meeting for final action. Notification of the meeting to the members will include a statement indicating that changes to these By-Laws will be acted upon. Final action will require affirmative votes by at least three (3) members.